
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 29 November 2022 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 7 December 2022 at 3.00 pm, 
QER, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Peter Britcliffe, Marlene Haworth, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt and Steven Smithson 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 30) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 19th October 2022. 
 

4.   Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 31 - 34) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies:- 
 

Name of Body Date of Meeting 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 26th October 2022 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 

6.   Identification of an External Project Director – LUF  (Pages 35 - 38) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council (Councillor Marlene Haworth) 
 

7.   Accrington Town Centre Parking  (Pages 39 - 42) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services (Councillor Steven Smithson) 
 

8.   Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid  (Pages 43 - 52) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

9.   Matters arising from Overview and Scrutiny - Town Centre Events  (Pages 53 - 56) 
 
Report attached. 
 

10.   Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Subsidised Pest Control 
Treatments  (Pages 57 - 60) 
 
Report attached. 
 

11.   Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Leisure Transformation Project: 
Consultant Appointment  (Pages 61 - 64) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

12.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended  That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the public be 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

excluded from the meeting during the following items, when 
it is likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that there 
will otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within the 
Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health & Wellbeing (Councillor Kath Pratt) 
 

13.   Hippings Vale Community Centre, Owsaldtwistle  (Pages 65 - 74) 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Report attached 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 19th October, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Peter Britcliffe, 

Marlene Haworth, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt and Steven Smithson 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Noordad Aziz, Loraine Cox, Bernard Dawson, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Katie-Louise Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 

  

Apologies: Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP 
 

 
145 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, who 
had a standing invitation to attend Cabinet meetings as Leader of the main Opposition 
party. 
 

146 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

147 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 21st September 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
In respect of Minute 105 – Pest Control, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the 
Council, reminded Members that the waiting time for visits was currently up to 5 weeks, but 
that 40% of appointments led to no treatment being undertaken.  A trial scheme to reduce 
abortive visits, by retrospectively charging £25 for missed appointments, had not been 
successful.  The new appointment fee proposed of £30 would equate to £7.50 per officer 
visit.  The Lancashire average appointment fee was £48.62.  The impact of the new pricing 
policy would be carefully monitored.  The Opposition had raised some concerns about the 
changes via the Call-In process.  Earlier today, at the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the availability of a local Household Support Fund had 
been pointed out.  Eligibility for the fund was means tested, but there was no charge for 
applications. 
 
Councillor Noordad Aziz applauded the actions of Councillors Scott Brerton and Colin 
McKenzie who had called in the decision, which had led to the above assurances around 
access. 
 
Councillor Aziz also referred to Minute 108 – Selective Landlord Licensing Scheme, and 
indicated that he had not yet received a written response to questions submitted in 
accordance with the advice set out at Paragraph 3 of that minute.  The Leader and Head of 
Regeneration and Housing indicated that they did not recall receiving the questions, but 
officers would follow up this matter after the meeting. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
148 Reports of Cabinet Members 

 
The Leader reported that the public consultation on the proposed submission version of the 
Local Plan had now commenced.  The Local Plan would shape the future growth of the 
Borough, through its employment and housing plans.  Public meetings had been arranged 
on the following dates:- 
 

 Clayton-le-Moors Community Centre – Wednesday 2nd November 2022 (3.30pm – 

7.30pm) 

 Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre – Thursday 3rd November 2022 (3.30pm – 7.30pm) 

 Bank Mill House, Great Harwood – Friday 4th November 2022 (3.30pm – 7.30pm) 

 Rishton Conservative Club – Tuesday 8th November 2022 (3.30pm – 7.30pm) 

 Accrington Town Hall – Wednesday 9th November 2022 (3.30pm – 7.30pm) 

 Huncoat (date in November and venue to be arranged) 

 
This would be the final consultation before the submission and examination stages of the 
process. 
 
A former Huncoat councillor, Mr Dave Parkins, was given permission to speak and asked if 
public meetings in Huncoat could be arranged at St Augustine CE Church and at Huncoat 
Primary School.  The Leader responded that he would put forward those suggestions, but it 
was likely that only one meeting would take place. 
 
The Leader summarised by stating that the Local Plan was critical to housing and 
employment development in the area. 
 

149 Market Hall Rent Concessions 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the 
Council, seeking a continuation of the support for the ground floor indoor market hall traders 
by extending the current period of rent concessions. 
 
Councillor Haworth highlighted key elements of the report as follows.  The main proposal 
was to extend the period of rent concessions for ground floor traders.  The traders had 
been supported through lockdown and although COVID-19 restrictions had now been lifted, 
despite some initial improvements in footfall, the economic downturn and other pressures 
on household spending meant that trading conditions were still difficult.  She was delighted 
to be able to propose the extension to the support already provided.  Councillor Peter 
Britcliffe, Portfolio Holder for Levelling Up, added that it was vital to continue to support 
market traders, particularly given their location at the heart of Accrington Town Centre.  He 
hoped that the ground floor cafes would also be eligible for this support. 
 
The Leader added that the extension would run for nine months, from 1 April 2023 to 31 
December 2023.  He summarised the support which had been provided previously.  A 
second decision was being proposed in connection with the introduction of a service charge 
in certain circumstances for the balcony units, following an application from a potential 
tenant who would require significant electrical energy usage. 
 
Councillor Melissa Fisher, Joint Deputy Leader of the Labour group, made some comments 
and asked a number of questions as follows: 
 

 The Labour group supported the use of concessions. 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 Could a discount be offered to the balcony units, particularly as problems with the lift 

might have reduced footfall upstairs? 

 Some concerns had been expressed about plans to move traders to temporary 

accommodation on Broadway for up to 14 months during remodelling, subject to the 

success of the Levelling Up Fund bid. 

 
Councillor Haworth responded that the lift had been a cause of concern, as parts were 
becoming more difficult to source.  She was currently discussing with officers the possible 
provision of a new lift.  It was hoped that this could be installed within the next few months.  
In respect of the relocation of traders, the use of Broadway was one of several suggestions 
discussed with traders, including the use of porta-cabins, pop-up stalls or empty shops.  No 
firm plans had yet been made, as this was dependent on the Levelling Up Fund bid.  
However, traders would be kept informed.  The Leader added that engagement would take 
place with traders when any firm options were being considered.  The option chosen would 
depend on the nature and time requirements of the refit, which could involve staged moves 
or a full closure of the market hall. 
 
Councillor Aziz asked if the service charges proposed for the balcony units and the fact that 
this was at the discretion of officers, might force traders to leave the market hall.  The 
Leader reiterated that this would only be in exceptional circumstances.  Councillor Haworth 
indicated that the matter had been discussed with the potential trader, as the Council simply 
wished to offer a deal which was fair. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Throughout the downturn in trading on the Borough’s high streets and difficulties throughout 
the COVID-19 lockdown/restrictions, Cabinet had supported the market hall traders through 
various rent concessions.  Whilst the COVID restrictions had been fully lifted and footfall 
levels were slowly improving, unfortunately there haD been a dramatic downturn in the 
economy.  Businesses were now facing severe cost increases and there had been a 
reduction in household income/spending levels not seen for over half a century. 
 
The Council, wishing to support the indoor market hall traders, had approved a number of 
concessions over the past 4 years (listed below).  However, without any further extension, 
the current rent concessions would expire at the end of this financial year. 
 

 a 50% concession on rents and service charges for two months in 2018  

 a permanent reduction in rents of 13.4% in 2019  

 a 30% concession on rents for a period of three years in 2020  

 a 22.5% concession on rents for twelve months in 2020  

 an extension to the 22.5% concession on rents for a further six months in 2021  

 a further extension to the concessions on rents until 31 March 2023 in late 2021  

 
Whilst there was a ‘potential’ loss of income circa £24k from extending the rent 
concessions, this assumed traders were able and willing to pay the level of rent set many 
years ago when trading conditions were very different.  Where rents were too high and not 
aligned with other local commercial rents, there was a risk many traders would simply leave 
the market hall, meaning all of a trader’s rental income would be lost.  
 
If approved, the terms of the concession being proposed would be as per previous 
agreements: 
  

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 that traders continue to make all monthly rent or other payments via Direct Debit 

and adhere to the Council’s Market Regulations.  

 where a current trader was in rent arrears, this concession would not be applied to 

the arrears and if applicable, any credits due would be used to reduce the 

outstanding debt.  

 where a trader was up to date, and if applicable, any credits would be returned in 

full.  

 
The report did not propose any concessions to service charges and traders within the 
balcony units or outside Peel Street Kiosks would not be eligible for the proposed rent 
concession. 
 
Historically, there had been no separate service charges applied to the balcony units within 
the Market Hall and rents had been set low to provide ‘incubator units’ for new a business 
to test the market with their offering, before hopefully moving on to bigger premises in the 
town centre.  There had been a number of recent examples to highlight the success of this 
offer.  Whilst the vast majority of balcony tenants only had simple strip lighting and one or 
two small appliances, recently, the market manager had been approached by a potential 
tenant needing the use of large chest freezer and fridge.  Given the recent rises in 
electricity costs and the use of these very energy hungry appliances 24/7, the electric cost 
could be greater than the rent paid by the tenant.  
 
The small balcony units were unmetered and, therefore, it was not possible to take meter 
readings.  It was therefore proposed that the Executive Director (Environment) be given 
authority, following consultation with the Portfolio Holder, and at their sole discretion, to 
agree the addition of separate service charges to new leases to enable service costs, 
including utility costs, to be recovered from tenants where such costs were not otherwise 
already the responsibility of the tenant. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could let the current rent concessions expire.  However, this had been rejected 
because the indoor market hall traders continued to raise concerns around high rents 
compared to other commercial units in the town centre and trading viability if the 
concessions did not remain.  
 
The Council could look to make the concessions permanent, rather than an extension.  This 
had been rejected given the potential redevelopment works in the market hall which would 
necessitate decanting traders from December 2023 and most likely there would be new 
agreements/leases when traders returned. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the report and the work 

undertaken by the Market Manager in continuing to 
implement improvements within the market hall, 
which contributes to the retention of existing 
traders.  

 
(2) That Cabinet approves an extension to the current 

rent concessions applied to ground floor market hall 
traders for a further 9 months from 1 April 2023 to 31 
December 2023 and notes the reduced income levels 
within this period. 

 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

(3) That Cabinet supports a scheme to introduce a 
service charge for balcony units, as set out in 
Paragraphs 3.8 and 3.9 of the report, and delegates 
authority to the Executive Director (Environment), 
following consultation with the Legal Services 
Manager, to incorporate this charge, where 
applicable, in new leases. 

 
150 Allotment Rental Charge 2024 

 
Councillor Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, provided a report 
seeking approval for a proposed increase in allotment rent charges from the 1st January 
2024. 
 
Councillor Smithson outlined the main elements of the report.  It was proposed that the 
allotment rent charge be increased from 24p/m2 per annum to 25p/m2 per annum (4.2% 
increase) from 1st January 2024.  In order to make the change 12 months’ notice needed to 
be given.  The increase would maintain the service on a cost neutral basis to the Council.  
The increases were considered to be reasonable when compared to neighbouring 
authorities, such as Blackburn with Darwen and Burney Councils.  The Leader also 
highlighted some issues including the tenants’ preference for small regular increases, 
historically low rents, recent site improvements and the lack of objections from the 
Hyndburn Federation of Allotments. 
 
Councillor June Harrison asked if there was a waiting list for tenancies.  Councillor 
Smithson believed this to be the case, but the matter would be clarified as information was 
due to be reported soon to Overview and Scrutiny.  A written response would be provided 
to Councillor Harrison.  Councillor Kate Walsh, Joint Deputy Leader of the Labour group, 
asked how long the waiting list was and whether new allotments could be created via the 
Local Plan process, to avoid over-development of urban areas and to improve the green 
environment.  The Leader responded that there were already designated sites for 
allotments, which included some private sites near the Dunkenhalgh Hotel and some sites 
transferred to Altham Parish Council.  However, to increase this number would require 
additional land to be purchased by the Council and require changes within the Local Plan 
which could not easily be implemented until the next plan in 2037. 
 
Approval of the report was deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
It was recommended that from 1st January 2024 the allotment rent charge be increased 
from 24.0p/m2 annum to 25.0p/m2 annum (4.2% increase).   
 
The allotment rent increment 2025 onwards would be considered in subsequent Cabinet 
reports during 2024, at a time when the increased inflationary pressures on the Council’s 
service costs were known. 
 
During 2012 the Council had consulted with the allotment tenants.  83% of those 
responding had said that rent should be increased regularly in small amounts rather than a 
single large increase at irregular intervals.   
 
Since 2014 the Council had progressively increased the allotment rents in small annual 
increments to ensure that the annual rate of increase was kept reasonable.  A list of annual 
rents charged per m2 and the minimum charge regardless of plot size, for the period 2014 
to 2024 was set out in the report, 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
Prior to 2014, the allotment rents had not been increased since 2006 and were amongst the 
lowest in England (data supplied by the National Allotment Society).  Between 2006 and 
2014 the annual allotment rents were charged at an average of 7.5p/m2 
 
The Council had a legal duty to notify tenants 12 months in advance of an allotment rent 
increase.  To facilitate the 1st January 2024 rent increase, allotment tenants would have to 
be advised by the 31st December 2022. 
 
The Councils allotment service was operated ‘cost neutral’ ie. without profit.  Having taken 
into account inflationary pressures for 2023-2024, and increased Council costs, the 
recommended rent increase would enable the Council to continue to provide the present 
‘cost neutral’ service level.  The Council’s allotment related costs had been estimated to 
increase by 4.88% for 2023 to 2024. 
 
The Allotment Act 1950 stated that an authority might charge such rent as a tenant might 
“reasonably be expected to pay”.  The recommended rental increase had taken account of 
all of the following factors: 
 

 Comparison with other neighbouring Local Authorities; 

 Comparison with other local recreational activities; 

 National Allotment Society Policy Document 103. Rents; and 

 Consultation with the Hyndburn Federation of Allotments. 

 
Comparative information for 2019 was reproduced in the report, which had been supplied 
by 12 allotment authorities attending the North West Allotment Officers meeting held on the 
16th October 2019.  Information was also provided about rents charged in 2022 in 
Blackburn with Darwen and Burnley.  There was a high degree of variability in the amount 
of allotment rents charged amongst local authorities and parish councils.  It was evident 
that a number of local authorities had not increased their rent for several years, others were 
using self-managed options to keep costs down, whilst others provided a far greater range 
of direct allotment services, including toilets, and similar. 
 
The average 2019 rent charged (excluding Bury) was 26.2p/m2, whilst the 2022 average of 
Blackburn with Darwen and Burnley was 28p/m2.  The allotment rent charged by Hyndburn 
remained year-on-year below average and extremely favourable when compared to the 
rents presently charged by Hyndburn’s immediate neighbours Blackburn with Darwen and 
Burnley.  It was reasonable to conclude that the proposed rent increase was consistent and 
below average when compared to other local authorities. 
 
There were no local recreational activities which were directly comparable to the allotments.  
The Council had introduced rents for the use of football pitches and bowling greens, set at 
an incremental rate to ensure that the use of the facilities became cost neutral.  The 
increase in allotment rents had followed the same trajectory. 
 
The National Allotment Society had produced Policy Document 103 – Rents.  The National 
Allotment Society recognised within its Policy the significance of rent to the allotment 
provider as an income, and further added that rents would have to be reasonable and set in 
accordance with the legal requirement.  When considering NAS Policy 103 the Council had 
taken the following into account: 
 

 The long-term financial sustainability of the allotments; 

 The nature, quality and cost of facilities provided, including the cost of maintenance; 

and 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 Expenditure on management and administration. 

 
With reference to the NAS Policy 103, it was reasonable for the Council to make the 
allotment service cost neutral.  The demand created on the service had established the 
management cost to the Council, and therefore through necessity the level of rent charged 
onward to the allotment tenants. 
 
Further information on the relevant legislation, case law and procedures was set out in the 
report. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
No rent change or reduced rate of rent increment: 
 
Owing to inflationary pressures and increased Council costs, the allotment service would 
become under-funded during 2024 resulting in the need to achieve cost savings.  In this 
event the allotment service would reduce its ability to undertake functions in compliance 
with its management role and that described within the allotment tenancy agreement.  
 
In officers’ opinion, there were no other reasonable alternatives.  Officers recommended 
that the options of no rent change, or reduced rent increment, be rejected on the grounds 
that the allotment service would have to continue to provide a cost neutral, effective and 
efficient service in its present format.  The recommended option was reasonable and would 
ensure that the allotment service continued to provide the level of service expected by 
allotment tenants. 
 
Resolved - Cabinet approves the increased allotment rent 

charges from 1st January 2024 as set out in 
Paragraph 3.1 of the report, allowing for the 
statutory notification period, as noted in Paragraph 
3.5 of the report. 

 
151 Oakhill Park Tennis Court 

 
Councillor Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, provided a report 
informing the Cabinet about an offer from the national governing body for tennis in the UK, 
the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA), to fund the refurbishment of the tennis courts in Oakhill 
Park. 
 
Councillor Smithson outlined the proposal from the LTA, and the recommendations to 
accept the offer, to approve the necessary delegations to officers to negotiate and agree 
terms with the LTA and to enter into a licence or agreement to allow the works to be carried 
out.  He highlighted that there were three tennis court sites in the Borough, at Oakhill Park 
and Peel Park in Accrington and at Lowerfold Park in Great Harwood.  The largest site was 
at Oakhill Park, but the surface was uneven and line markings were faded.  The LTA had 
categorised the courts as poor and had offered to invest around £50k for their 
refurbishment.  The costs proposed by the LTA for use of the refurbished tennis courts at 
Oakhill Park were £5 per hour for ‘pay as you play’ or £25 for an annual household pass.   
The Council’s other tennis courts would remain free to use. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe commented that this was great news, as the tennis courts had 
been somewhat neglected over time.   Other tennis courts across the Borough in 
Rhyddings Park and Gatty Park had been taken out of use in previous years.  Councillor 
Harrison commented that she and Councillor Joyce Plummer had personally erected the 
netting at the Peel Park courts over the last few years. 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The majority of park tennis courts in the UK were owned by local authorities, however, 
increasing pressure on local authority budgets over the years had resulted in significant 
underinvestment, leaving approximately 45% of all park tennis courts in a poor, very poor, 
or unplayable condition.  
 
Research had found that poor quality courts were disproportionately found in lower income 
areas.  The LTA’s Parks Investment Funding aimed to help address this underinvestment, 
opening up the sport to people of all backgrounds, and ultimately providing greater 
opportunities for everyone to follow the Chief Medical Officer’s guidance on physical 
activity.  
 
At the Autumn Budget 2021, funding of £21.9m had been made available for investment 
into rejuvenating dilapidated park tennis courts throughout the UK.  Alongside this, a further 
£8.4m of funding committed had been committed by the LTA, taking the total funding 
package for the two year investment programme to £30.3m.  
 
Park tennis courts were particularly important in providing affordable opportunities for 
anyone to pick up a racquet.  With over 1.7 million adults playing on park courts every year, 
parks played a critical role in ensuring the sport was accessible to all and tennis could 
contribute to well-being benefits. 
 
Through this Investment Programme, LTA’s ambition was to support local authorities to 
develop quality, sustainable park tennis facilities for all, and attract 1 million more players to 
the sport across the UK, contributing to health, social and wellbeing outcomes for residents 
and communities. 
 
There were three tennis court sites located within parks in Hyndburn.  There were tennis 
courts in Oakhill Park & Peel Park in Accrington and Lowerfold Park in Great Harwood.  
Over the last few years the tennis courts at Peel Park and Lowerfold Park had received 
some investment. 
 
Oakhill Park was the largest tennis venue with three individual courts.  Unfortunately the 
surface was uneven and line marking faded which made for a poor tennis experience.  The 
courts at Oakhill Park had been surveyed by the LTA and categorised as poor, which meant 
they were eligible for funding.  
 
The LTA offer was to invest circa £50,000 into the tennis courts at Oakhill Park which would 
lead to the surface being refurbished, the lines being re-painted and some of the fencing 
being replaced. 
 
The LTA’s own contractor would undertake the refurbishment work at Oakhill Park under 
licence from the Council.  The LTA were using their own contractor to ensure that all sites 
refurbished via the investment programme were done so to a specific standard required by 
the LTA, which would be the same across the UK, so as to provide a national standard of 
park tennis court. 
 
As the LTA investment programme was designed to produce sustainable tennis courts, a 
condition of the funding was that use of the courts at Oakhill Park would become a 
chargeable leisure activity with all income derived put into a sinking fund used to resurface 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

the courts so they remained in good condition for the long term.  The Council would also 
have to ensure the courts were swept, kept clean and nets installed to facilitate tennis.  
 
The tennis courts at Oakhill Park would be booked via an online booking system which 
would provide a code to gain entry to the tennis courts.   
 
The LTA would work with the Council (post capital works) to offer coaching opportunities 
and increase opportunities for participation. 
 
As the courts at Peel Park and Lowerfold Park were not included in this project, the use of 
those courts would remain free of charge. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not to accept the LTA funding offer to refurbish the tennis courts at Oakhill Park.  This had 
been discounted as the tennis courts were in need of refurbishment and the funding would 
provide a quality tennis facility for the people of Hyndburn, both in the short and long term. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet accepts the offer from the LTA to 

refurbish the tennis courts in Oakhill Park. 
 
(2)  That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive 

Director (Environment) to negotiate and agree terms 
of the funding agreement with the LTA to deliver this 
project. 

 
(3) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive 

Director (Environment) to enter into a licence or 
other suitable written agreement with the LTA to 
enable the LTA’s preferred contractor to undertake 
the proposed works in Oakhill Park. 

 
152 Medium Term Financial Strategy - 2023/24 to 2025/26 - October 2022 Update 

 
Members received a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
informing the Cabinet of the 3-year projections of income and spending for the Council 
ahead of formulating the actions it needed to take to produce its 2023/24 Revenue and 
Capital Budgets. 
 
Councillor Plummer provided a brief introduction to the report.   She summarised the 
background to the Strategy, including high levels of uncertainty due to COVID-19 and the 
war in Ukraine, as well as pressures caused by demand for food, oil and gas, as well as 
inflation and global recession.  The Government was required to balance the demands of 
public expenditure and its own financing.  It was hoped that some of these uncertainties 
would diminish over time to provide economic stability.   The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) presented three different scenarios for the next three years based on 
standard, pessimistic and optimistic models.  Each scenario would have different financial 
consequences for the Council. 
 
Overall, good financial management needed to be maintained, income maximised and 
reserves maintained. 
 
The Leader added that the Council would operate a roll forward Budget for 2023/24 based 
on the adjusted 2022/23 Budget.  The Council would need to generate £104,000 of internal 
savings during the year.  Overall expenditure would need to be contained at around 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

£14.5m.  The intention was still to freeze Council Tax for 2023/24.  The Council would also 
need to maintain Reserves of £2M.  An update to the MTFS to take account of any new 
information or changes, would be provided in February 2023, prior to the setting of the 
Budget for 2023/24. 
 
The Capital Programme for 2022/23 had been around £23M due to anticipated Levelling Up 
and Leisure Transformation funding.  The Programme for 2023/24 would be more modest, 
although the Council would still seek to deliver its existing commitments.  Spending would 
be limited to available resources (including grants and capital receipts), so as to avoid 
borrowing and the consequential impacts on the Revenue Budget. 
 
Councillor Noordad Aziz enquired about how much Revenue Support Grant (RSG) had 
been lost over the last decade.  The Leader responded that in 2010, George Osborne MP, 
as Chancellor of the Exchequer, had announced the ending of RSG.  The Council’s income 
up to that time was broadly split between ⅓ Government grant, ⅓ non-domestic rates and 
⅓ Council Tax.  Since that date the Council’s RSG had reduced from c.£7M to c.£1.5M and 
the Fair Funding review was still awaited.  Councillor Plummer referred Councillor Aziz to 
Table 1 at Page 21 of the report. 
 
Councillor Aziz also queried what the impact of a possible second period of austerity might 
be on the Council’s capital finances.  The Leader indicated that the Capital Programme was 
proposed to return to its previous annual level of around £1M in future years.  The 
programme was always oversubscribed with bids, which meant that projects would always 
need to be prioritised.  Councillor Aziz asked if delivery of the Capital Programme was 
reliant on bids such as Levelling Up, as no announcements had yet been made, and 
whether the Programme should be reconsidered now.  The Leader responded that the 
anticipated Chancellor’s Statement on Halloween might give further clarity.  However, there 
were other bids to and potential grants from a variety of organisations which supported the 
Capital Programme.  No adjustment was required to the Capital Programme at present. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Cabinet required an update on its medium term financial outlook ahead of commencing 
its Annual Budget process for the 2023/24 financial year and determining the level of 
Council Tax.  The Strategy ensured those decisions were taken with a view to the overall 
position of the Council going forward and were not limited to a narrow one-year perspective. 
 
The substantive MTFS report included the following summary.  The Council’s activities and 
finances had been dominated this year by the continuing impact of COVID-19 and the 
economic consequences of the Russian invasion of Ukraine. It was expected that these two 
linked key events and their consequences would continue to have a major impact on the 
Council’s finances for at least the next financial year as a minimum, with the potential for 
the effects to continue much longer. 
 
In response to the great uncertainty the Council faced, the authority would operate a roll 
forward Budget for 2023/24 based on the 2022/23 Budget adjusted for changes to salary 
and wages, energy and other cost pressures and anticipated changes to the Council’s 
income from the Government.  This would provide Service Managers a fixed reference 
point from which to continue to respond to the inflationary pressures now faced and allowed 
a degree of stability for one further year, while everyone recovered from another year of 
significant challenges.  To achieve a balanced Budget during the year the Council would 
need to generate £104,000 of internal savings during the year.  Overall expenditure would 
need to be contained at around £14.5m in 2023/24 to set a balanced budget.   

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 
If necessary, the Council might have to use some of its Reserves to help balance the 
Budget.  This was particularly likely if the Government reduced the amount of financial 
support it provided the Council, or reduced the amount of Business Rates it was allowed to 
retain.  Additionally, it might be necessary to use Reserves if it was believed that in the 
current economic climate it would be inappropriate to raise Council Tax. 
 
The Council would face significant financial challenges over the next three years as it 
sought to overcome the consequence of COVID-19 and the War in Ukraine.  Addressing 
the impact of any proposed Government funding reforms and increased pressures on 
spending would present it with further challenges over this period.  As the extent of the 
Government financial reforms were unclear at this time and were unlikely to emerge until 
December 2023 at the earliest, this produced great uncertainty and potentially significant 
variance around the forecasts contained in the MTFS. 
 
Previously, for the last four years the expectation had been that the Government would 
implement what it termed as a “Fair Funding Review of Local Government Finance.”  This 
proposal would effectively end the Revenue Support Grant to the Council and potentially 
redistribute the amount of Business Rates the Council was allowed to retain to other 
Councils.  The expected impact of these changes if they went ahead were expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the funding available to the Council.  In these 
circumstances, the Council would need to make substantial reductions in its expenditure 
levels as a consequence.  The changes would need to be made either immediately in the 
aftermath of the announcement or over a short period, if some form of transitional 
arrangements accompanied the changes to assist those Councils most dramatically 
impacted. 
 
After 4 years in which these reforms had been postponed for various reasons and with a 
new Government under a new Prime Minister in power, the certainty around the 
introduction of Fair Funding was no longer as sure as it once seemed and it might be the 
case that these reforms would be postponed for a number of years or dropped altogether.  
This would allow the potential current levels of funding to the Council to continue. 
 
As a consequence, the modelling now recognised that there was a real possibility that 
continuation of Government funding at current levels might be the most likely outcome over 
the next few years of all the potential different scenarios that could occur.  However, many 
of the drivers around the need to reform the finances of Local Government still existed.  As 
such the strong prospect of a Fair Funding Review which significantly reduced the Council’s 
funding remained a very real prospect.  DLUHC officials continued to indicate they wished 
to introduce some kind of Fair Funding Review to re-shape Council finances and the 
prospectus of this occurring over the next few years remained a distinct possibility. 
 
This presented the Council with two very different future budget scenarios.  The first was a 
scenario in which funding from Government remained largely in its current shape and 
where the Council while under financial pressure from high pay inflation and a steep rise in 
its energy costs, should be able to largely cope.  While the second scenario, saw reform of 
local government finance, with a wide range of possible outcomes for the Council 
potentially occurring, from changes that were relatively small in consequence, all the way 
through a whole series of potential results some of which would be large and very dramatic 
in terms of the challenges they presented to the Council. 
 
These 2 scenarios were modelled within the report.  The more severe of the two, as the 
Pessimistic Scenario and the other as the Standard Model.  A third model was also 
presented which indicated the Council’s potential position if the Government chose to 
provide local government with an injection of cash over and above current levels and locally 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

the Council was able to boost its own tax revenue as a consequence of a buoyant tax base.  
This Optimistic model was considered to have a much lower probability of occurring 
compared to the other two models but was provided to illustrate the wide range of potential 
outcomes. 
 
In these circumstances it was prudent for the Council to look to increase its reserves and 
revenue streams, such as Council Tax and Business Rates, whenever it could and to avoid 
committing to any new revenue expenditure while continuing to concentrate on its work to 
reduce internal costs. 
 
Detailed information was provided in the MTFS in relation to the following: 
 

 Introduction; 

 Objectives; 

 Elements of the MTFS; 

 Service Planning; 

 Integrated Resource Planning with Service Plans; 

 Background Information; 

 Financial Analysis 2023/24 to 2025/26; 

 Changes in Costs; 

 Growth; 

 Reserves; 

 Other Assumptions; 

 Equality Impact Assessment; 

 Scenarios; 

 Robustness of Forecast; and 

 Overall Net Position. 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the report and the 

accompanying Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). 

 
153 Financial Position Report - August 2022 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2022 

 

Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report to inform 

Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of August 2022 and the 

financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2021/22. 

 
Councillor Plummer provided a brief introduction to the report.  The Council was on course 
to achieve a positive variance of £89k on its Budget for 2022/23.  This took into account the 
proposed annual pay award, which was larger than had been predicted when the Budget 
had been set, as well as increased energy costs due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine.  
Increasing energy costs had been mitigated by good energy management and the 
Government’s package of financial support.  Budget holders had worked hard to contain 
inflationary pressures within Budget.  The forecast assumed that additional expenditure 
caused by any future spike in COVID-19 cases would be funded by the Government. 
 
Councillor Noordad Aziz indicated that he had submitted some 15 questions directly to the 
Portfolio Holder via e-mail, this afternoon, for a written response, but he would be grateful if 
answers could be provided today to the following:- 
 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

 Given that the variance on year to date expenditure as at 5 August, shown in the 

Table (at Page 124), was £4,265k, how did the projected expenditure only produce 

a predicted year end variance of £87k?  -  Response: The Deputy Chief Executive 

indicated that report focused on the anticipated year end variance, but that during 

the year money flowed into and out of the Council.  At the start of the year spending 

decisions might have reflected a difficult cashflow position.  Also, income will have 

been recorded in the system, but might be earmarked for future commitments.  The 

spending trajectory would, however, smooth out over the course of the financial 

year.  At the year to date point, the variance was around 80% of planned 

expenditure. 

 Did the positive variances against Departmental staffing budgets reflect unfilled staff 

posts?  -  Response: The Leader indicated that this question would be answered 

within the written response due to be provided. 

 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The detailed figures underpinning the report were shown as a table at the end of the 
document provided. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2023 was £12,246,000 
compared to a Budget of £12,334,000.  The forecast produced a positive variance of 
£89,000 by the end of the financial year.   
 
The report included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service 
areas:- 
 
Environmental Services 
 
Environmental Services were predicting a year-end adverse variance of £155,000.  Waste 
Services were predicting an adverse variance for the year of £61,000.  This was due to 
£103,000 of additional costs and a predicted decline in income of £3,000, offset by £46,000 
savings on staff costs.  The Parks & Cemetery Service was forecasting an adverse 
variance of £84,000, due to additional income of £22,000 and savings of £17,000 on staff 
costs less £123,000 of miscellaneous additional costs.  The Town Centre & Market Budget 
was predicting an adverse variance of £33,000, with £35,000 of additional operating costs 
less £2,000 of salary saving.  Environmental Health were predicting a positive variance of 
£23,000 due to £35,000 of additional income and £19,000 of savings on expenses less 
£31,000 of additional staff costs. 
 
Culture & Leisure Services 
 
Culture and Leisure Services were indicating a positive variance of £81,000.  Service 
expenditure on Leisure was forecasting a positive variance of £130,000, while the Haworth 
Art Gallery was predicting an adverse variance of £50,000 due to increased expenditure on 
staff of £13,000, and £46,000 of additional expenditure less £9,000 additional income. 
 
Planning & Transportation  
 
Planning & Transportation were predicting an adverse variance for the year of £133,000.  
This is due to predicted unfinanced additional spend on salary costs of £93,000, £38,000 of 
extra miscellaneous costs and £2,000 less income. 
 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

Regeneration & Property Services 
 
Regeneration & Property Services were predicting a small adverse variance of £21,000 at 
year-end.  This was the net of additional staff and miscellaneous costs less additional 
income. 
 
Policy & Corporate Governance 
 
Policy & Corporate Governance were predicting a positive variance of £132,000.  This was 
due to £23,000 of salary savings less the Corporate Salary Savings Target of £101,000, an 
increase of income of £122,000 and £88,000 additional miscellaneous savings. 
 
Non Service Items 
 
The current estimate for the year was a positive variance of £185,000. 
 
In respect of the robustness of the forecast and other issues, the Council was facing a 
period of inflationary pressure, particularly in relation to energy and fuel costs and the 
national pay award for Local Government Employees remained unsettled.  The current 
forecast included the latest assumptions around these developments, but the situation 
remained volatile.  Any significant changes in the underlying Budget assumptions that 
impacted the overall outturn forecast would be reported at the next Cabinet meeting. 
 
As in the previous two years, if there was a spike in COVID-19 that required the Council to 
take action to prevent the spread of the virus or to provide additional support to the local 
community, it was expected that additional funding provided by Government would be used 
to meet any additional costs the Council incurred. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report and asks Corporate 

Management Team to continue to reduce 
expenditure and increase income so as to further 
improve the overall financial position of the Council 
over the remaining months of the year. 

 
154 Huncoat Garden Village Infrastructure Funding Bid 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Kath Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health 
and Wellbeing, updating Cabinet on progress concerning the Huncoat Garden Village 
project and seeking approval for the Council’s Infrastructure funding bid. 
 
Councillor Pratt indicted that this was a major growth project provided for in the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy.  The Masterplan represented an opportunity to retain existing 
households and attract new households into the Borough.  Liaison was on-going with 
Homes England, Lancashire County Council, National Highways and various landowners in 
order to deliver the Masterplan.  There was estimated to be a funding gap in the region of 
£25M to make the scheme viable.  The plan included a new access road; additional school 
places; and remediation of the former power station and colliery sites.  The intention was to 
make a bid of around £30M to Homes England. 
 
The Leader reiterated that the scheme was a game-changing opportunity to retain 
households and attract new ones into the area.  He outlined the key elements of the 
scheme listed in the report, which would deliver 1,816 new homes, including 312 
safeguarded for the next Local Plan period beyond 2036.  He also summarised the content 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 
15 

of the proposed bid to Homes England.  He commented that the proposed Junction 8, M65 
improvements would also benefit the Altham employment site.  The overall scheme would 
help to protect other Green Belt land within the Borough.  The project was the culmination 
of much hard work over many years by a large number of people. 
 
Former councillor, Mr Dave Parkins, was given permission to speak on this item.  He 
enquired about the number of homes which would need to be built before the link road 
would be required.  Current proposal suggested that 400 homes would be required, but 
previously the figure stated had been 451 homes.  The current road infrastructure in 
Huncoat was inadequate.  Councillor Pratt indicated that the exact number of homes would 
be a matter for Lancashire County Council.  The Leader commented that some housing 
development could take place before the new link road was in place.  However, the wider 
Huncoat Garden Village scheme was more aspirational and would include housing, 
biodiversity and a link road.  Housing was critical to the growth of the Borough.  Councillor 
Melissa Fisher asked what would happen if the funding bid was not successful.  The Leader 
responded that the report presented a positive picture of what the Council wished to 
achieve.  There would still be some housing development in Huncoat, even if the full 
scheme was not realised.  However, there was a strong belief that the bid would be 
successful. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Huncoat Garden Village formed a major part of Hyndburn Borough Council’s growth plans 
including a once in a lifetime opportunity to diversify Hyndburn’s housing offer and provide 
new housing in a fabulous landscape setting.  The Garden Village was a game-changing 
opportunity for market making housing in Hyndburn, at a scale that not only helped the 
Borough retain those households that otherwise would leave to meet their housing 
aspirations elsewhere, but also attract new economic households to the Borough. 
 
On the 20th October 2021, Cabinet had approved the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan 
framework and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy.  The Masterplan framework was now a 
material consideration to any planning application within the area.  The Masterplan also 
formed part of the Council’s new, emerging Local Plan.  The key elements promoted by the 
masterplan framework over the next 15 years included: 
 

 Delivery of 1,816 new homes, including 312 safeguarded for the next plan period 

beyond 2036, with an assumption of policy compliant affordable housing delivery 

within the mix; 

 A new residential relief/distributer road linking Huncoat Garden Village directly with 

the A56; 

 Provision to expand Huncoat Junior School (or an option to build a new school if 

that became necessary); 

 A new village centre located at the junction of Lower Gate Road, Altham Lane and 

Station Road.  This would link the existing Huncoat Village with the Garden Village 

area providing local facilities including shops and car parking within walking distance 

for all existing and new households; 

 Railway Station improvements including a significant car parking facility with cycle 

storage and improved access arrangements; 

 Circa 40 hectares of improved open space including 24 hectares of safeguarded 

land for a potential Biological Heritage site; 

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
16 

 In addition to the existing football/sport pitches of Bolton Avenue, a new state of the 

art 11-a-side 4G pitch with floodlighting and a 9-a-side grass pitch; and 

 7 formal and 7 informal play areas 

 
Since the Masterplan framework’s approval, the Council had been working with Homes 
England, Lancashire County Council and National Highways to bring forward the 
Masterplan sites within Huncoat for residential development.  The Masterplan Framework 
and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy had been subject to high level viability analysis to help 
inform whether the Masterplan was ultimately deliverable.  On the basis of the analysis, it 
had been concluded that there was a headline viability funding gap likely to be in the region 
of £25 million, plus the need to generate an appropriate per acre land value that would 
enable development to commence.  The Masterplan Delivery Strategy had recognised that 
due to the viability challenges identified, the comprehensive delivery of the Garden Village 
would require grant funding to achieve a viable and deliverable Garden Village.  The key 
viability drains were the proposed relief/distributor road, excessive abnormal costs on the 
former developed sites (former power station and colliery sites), school expansion and 
other key infrastructure costs including off-site electricity reinforcements, foul drainage 
connections, new surface water attenuations and management, etc. 
 
Following discussions with Homes England, the Government’s housing accelerator, Homes 
England had encouraged the Council to make a Business Case submission to its 
Brownfield Land Infrastructure Funding programme.  Jointly funded by Homes England and 
the Council,  Avison Young had been appointed to help the Council make a bid, using their 
expertise to prepare a five case Business Case (strategic, economic, commercial, financial 
and management).  In addition, funded by Homes England, Arcadis had been appointed to 
prepare an outline relief/distributor road design with costings to inform the Business Case. 
 
Arcadis had concluded its commission to plot and confirm the route and costs of the 
proposed new relief/distributer road.  In addition, Avison Young were well advanced in 
preparing the Council’s Business Case submission, subject to Cabinet approval.  If 
approved, the Business Case should be ready for submission to Homes England before the 
end of October 2022. 
 
Following further viability work and analysis, the Council proposed to make a funding 
submission of circa £29.6 million to Homes England, with the main grant funding costs as 
follows: 
 

 £6,762,327 for delivery of the relief/distributor road; 

 £4.5m contribution to delivery of Junction 8, M65 upgrades; 

 £18,317,660 for abnormal costs associated with the need for site remediation on the 

two brownfield development areas; 

 £29,579,987 total bid submission. 

 
Factoring the above into an updated viability appraisal from that prepared as part of the 
Masterplan process, the residual value showing on the viability appraisal was £15,582,511 
(positive) which equated to a land value of £215,317per hectare.  Engagement with Homes 
England and review of Government ‘reasonable’ land value benchmarks supported the view 
that this was an acceptable residual land value to leverage grant support. 
 
Whilst the appointed external consultancy had developed suggested responses to the 
questions needed for the Council’s Infrastructure Funding bid submission, there would be a 
number of specific bid documents / statements which required the Council’s Chief Finance 
Officer, (Section 151 Officer) and Chief Executive to make and sign as a true and correct 
record on behalf of the Council. 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
17 

 
The Huncoat Garden Village Business Case would seek funding for the following three key 
interventions, further details of which were set out in the report: 
 

 Huncoat Relief / Distributer Road; 

 Huncoat Junction 8, M65 Upgrade; and 

 Site Remediation on the two Brownfield Sites. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan Framework and Infrastructure Delivery Strategy 
had considered six options as part of the process to arrive at the preferred option for 
Huncoat Garden Village.  This had been reported in the Masterplan report to Cabinet on the 
20th October 2021.  Detailed analysis of the option development and testing was provided 
within the Masterplan Stage 2 Option Testing and Development Report which could be 
viewed on the Huncoat Garden Village Website. 
 
The Council could decide not to make a funding submission, and Cabinet could decide not 
to support the recommendations in the report.  This was not recommended as this was a 
major opportunity to access significant funding to bring forward housing at scale to support 
the Council’s growth plans.  If the market was left to deliver new housing development in 
Huncoat there was a significant risk that delivery would be compromised and slowed down, 
and the Council would lose the opportunity to direct development in line with the Masterplan 
and emerging Design code. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 

 
(1) Notes and welcomes the progress being made 

on bringing forward development land and 

infrastructure to enable new residential 

development as set out in the Huncoat Garden 

Village Masterplan Framework and 

Infrastructure Delivery Strategy. 

 
(2) Approves the principal interventions set out in 

Paragraph 3.8 of this report to be included 

within the Council’s Infrastructure Funding bid 

submission to Homes England.  

 
(3) Approves the proposal to apply for 

Infrastructure Funding to Homes England for up 

to £30 million for Huncoat Garden Village as 

outlined in this report. 

 
(4) Delegates authority to the Head of Regeneration 

and Housing, following consultation with the 

Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder, to 

make amendments to the Infrastructure Funding 

Bid submission prior to submission of the same 

to refine costs or improve project viability. 

 
(5) The Council’s Chief Executive and Director of 

Finance are given delegated authority, following 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
18 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, to 

sign off the relevant documents required for the 

Council’s Infrastructure Funding bid submission 

as highlighted in Paragraph 3.7 of the report. 

 
(6) Note that if the Infrastructure Funding Bid is 

successful, a further report will be brought to 

Cabinet to approve acceptance of the funding, 

once the terms and overall project structure 

have been confirmed.  In addition, further 

approvals will be sought in relation to 

procurement, appointment of contractors and 

professional services, and a number of legal 

agreements with third parties including land 

owners/developers and National Highways as 

set out in the report. 

 
(7) Further notes, in progressing the Huncoat 

Garden Village project should the Council’s 

Infrastructure Fund bid be successful, entering 

a funding agreement with Homes England and 

the spend programme will generate a number of 

risks for the Council.  Some of the key risks are 

set out in in Paragraph 3.13 of the report.  

Should the Council’s bid be successful a further 

report will be brought to Cabinet as described in 

Resolution (6) above.  This will include a risk 

register with details on how the risks will be 

mitigated.   

 
155 Rough Sleeping Grant Funding 

 
Councillor Kath Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and Wellbeing, provided a report 
outlining the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) 2022 - 2025 and Rough Sleeping 
Accommodation Programme (RSAP) 2022 - 2024 grant funding, which the Council had 
recently been awarded by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC). 
 
The report identified how the Council proposed to utilise both funding programmes and 
sought approval to enter into agreements with Stepping Stone Projects and Maundy Relief 
to support their activities in the relief and prevention of rough sleeping. 
 
Councillor Pratt highlighted that, with the effects of the cost of living crisis, more individuals 
were at risk of rough sleeping.  The Council currently met its responsibilities, in part, 
through external bodies, including Stepping Stone Projects, Maundy Relief and others.  The 
Council had received some £423k grant funding over a three year period under the Rough 
Sleeping Initiative (RSI) and a further £80k over 2 years via the Rough Sleeping 
Accommodation Programme (RSAP).  As well as the existing support, some RSI funding 
was earmarked for new schemes including the flexible surge accommodation fund and 
support into employment and training for rough sleepers 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

 
19 

Councillor Peter Britcliffe welcomed the initiatives and the work of the various charity 
organisations and their volunteers.  He commented that even with the support available 
some individuals, unfortunately, chose to sleep rough.  This was their right in a free country, 
but bedding in shop doorways was unsightly.  However, Hyndburn had received 
Government funding over a number of years to help tackle the issue.  Councillor Fisher 
remarked that not all rough sleepers had chosen a life on the street and that more support 
was required.  Councillor Loraine Cox added that the Maundy Navigator Service knew the 
location of rough sleepers and went out every night to offer support and a bed for the night. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Rough Sleeping Grant Programmes 
 
In 2018 the Government had published their national Rough Sleeping Strategy and Action 
Plan aiming to halve rough sleeping by the end of this Parliament and eliminate it by 2027.  
The Government had committed funding for programmes such as the Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme, Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) programme and the Rough 
Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP). 
 
Local authorities had been invited to apply for funds to address rough sleeping.  The RSAP 
and RSI programmes were designed to fund complementary interventions and activities for 
this purpose.  There continued to be a need in the Borough for accommodation for rough 
sleepers as a route off the street and to prevent people from sleeping rough.  Consequently 
the Council submitted applications and had been successful in securing both RSI and 
RSAP grant funding. 
 
The Council had successfully worked with a number of local charitable agencies such as 
Stepping Stone Projects and Maundy Relief to prevent and reduce rough sleeping.  The 
overall aim was to extend those activities.  The latest RSI and RSAP programmes offered 
funding for more than one financial year and this enabled existing activities to be 
maintained as well as new activities to be planned and introduced. 
 
Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) Funding 2022 - 2025 
 
The RSI funding programme aimed to provide additional bed spaces for rough sleepers 
with tailored support including help with mental health problems, addiction services, 
tenancy support, and access to training and employment. 
 
Hyndburn had previously been awarded funding under the RSI 2020/21 funding programme 
via a joint submission with other East Lancashire authorities.  As part of the bidding process 
for RSI funding for the period 2022-25, Hyndburn’s bid for funding would maintain existing 
activities that worked well, as well as providing for new activities that would be 
complementary. 
 
The bid submission process involved the completion of a self-assessment plan and bid 
application.  Meetings with DLUHC advisors and agencies who supported the Council in 
delivering for rough sleepers had helped develop Hyndburn’s bid submission. 
 
The table below summarised Hyndburn’s RSI 2022-2025 grant funding award: 
 
Table 1 
 

 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 Sum of total 

Page 23



 
 
 

 

 
20 

 £ £ £ grant £ 

A Bed Every 
Night 
  

20,000 20,000 20,000 60,000 

Flexible surge 
accommodation 
fund 

8,900 7,790 6,325 23,015 

Emergency 
night shelter 

15,000 15,000 15,000 45,000 

Maundy 
navigator 
service 

31,000 31,000 31,000 93,000 

Step Forward  
Hyndburn 

22,432 28,576 28,576 79,584 

Support into 
employment 
and training for 
rough sleepers 

33,250 45,000 45,000 123,250 

Totals   
£ 

130,582 147,366 145,901 423,849 

 
 
Hyndburn’s submission had proposed to maintain these existing activities and interventions:  
 

 A Bed Every Night (ABEN) was an existing project which offered short term 

secure self-contained accommodation with support prior to securing longer term 

accommodation.  Stepping Stone Projects provided support to occupants who 

lived in 5 dispersed flats. 

 The night shelter was an existing activity that provided emergency overnight 

accommodation for rough sleepers and those at imminent risk of rough sleeping.  

Access to the accommodation, subject to space, was available year round.  

Based at Maundy Relief in the centre of Accrington, the accommodation was in 

three single rooms with two shared bathrooms. Users could access showers, a 

washing machine and a kitchenette and were provided with an evening meal 

and breakfast. 

 The navigator service was a continuation of an existing activity and was 

provided by Maundy Relief. It provided an outreach activity that proactively 

sought out rough sleepers in their locations and offered immediate emergency 

support with food, clothing and overnight accommodation in Maundy‘s night 

shelter. 

 
Hyndburn’s submission had also included new activity for accessing and securing 
accommodation for rough sleepers: 
 

 Following a visit from DLUC’s Rough Sleeping Advisor to Hyndburn’s rough 

sleeping and homelessness projects, the Council was encouraged to include within 

its submission a funding request for both the Step Forward Hyndburn project and 

support into training and employment. 

 Step Forward Hyndburn was a 12 bedroom project for single male homeless cases 

including rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping.  On reviewing the 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
21 

project it was concluded that there was need to provide 24/7 on-site management, 

security and support. 

 Support into employment and training for rough sleepers presented a further 

opportunity to help rough sleepers rebuild their lives.  The approach outlined in 

Hyndburn’s submission was working with a suitable experienced agency to identify 

a range of interventions to support rough sleepers into work and training.  The 

Council proposed to procure this activity with appropriate training agencies. 

 Flexible surge accommodation provided funds to improve access to a wider range of 

accommodation such as deposits/rent upfront payments to secure private rented 

accommodation for rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping.  It also 

provided funding for cold weather payments.  This activity would be directly 

administered via the Council’s Housing Advice and Homelessness Team. 

  

 Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP), 2022-2024 

 
The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP) was another programme to meet 
the Government’s manifesto commitment to halve rough sleeping by the end of this 
Parliament and eliminate it by 2027. 
 
This Programme provided for both capital and revenue funding to meet the cost of longer 
term accommodation and support to help rough sleepers rebuild their lives.  Local 
Authorities were expected to work with accommodation providers and specialist agencies to 
end rough sleeping, especially where local authorities were no longer a landlord.   
 
In 2021 Hyndburn had secured £175,833 funding for 2021/2024 to provide access to 
accommodation and support for rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping.  This 
had been covered in a report which went to the Cabinet meeting held on 22nd June 2022.  
Approval had been granted to enter into a grant agreement with Stepping Stone Projects to 
deliver support to rough sleepers living in five properties. 
 
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUC) had invited Councils 
including those who had already been awarded grant to submit further proposals and bids 
for 2022/2023 and 2023/2024 for the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP).  
Proposals could include securing additional grant to support existing RSAP projects. 
 
Hyndburn had made a submission and had been awarded additional revenue grant to 
expand the existing RSAP project so that an additional 5 people who had been rough 
sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping could be accommodated with support.  This grant 
would cover the cost of support from Stepping Stone Projects and furnishing 
accommodation. 
 
Table 2 
 

 RSAP Grant 

Programme 

 2022/2023  2023/2024 

 Grant awarded   £55,417  £25,000 

 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
22 

 
The Council could have decided not to submit bids for RSI and RSAP funding, but this 
would not have maximised the funding opportunities available to the Council and potentially 
put at risk existing provision for rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping. 
 
RSAP and RSI funded interventions supported Hyndburn’s Prevention of Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy.  It was widely recognised that housing and support for 
vulnerable people provided a quicker and more effective service to ensure vulnerable 
residents could move forward with their lives, and in the case of rough sleeping, preventing 
a cycle of rough sleeping. 
 
Local housing authorities had been encouraged to submit proposals naming the proposed 
organisations they would support financially which limited alternative options now the 
Council had secured the funding.  Additionally, Stepping Stone Projects and Maundy Relief 
were the only organisations operating in the Borough with the level of local presence, local 
knowledge and expertise to deliver rough sleeping activities successfully.  A key element in 
the RSI funding interventions submission process was a Local Authority self-assessment 
which invited local authorities to explain which interventions they wanted to build, grow and 
improve.  This had helped DLUHC to make informed assessments in awarding funding.  
Hyndburn’s submission had identified the activities already done by Stepping Stone and 
Maundy with rough sleepers, and how this further funding award would develop and 
enhance both organisations existing activities in preventing and reducing rough sleeping. 
 
As these agreements were considered grants, they were not subject to the Council’s 
Contracts Procedure Rules, but good practice and transparency would be observed 
throughout.  The Council proposed to award the funding by way of grant to Stepping Stones 
and Maundy as set out in the report because both organisations already carried out work to 
prevent and respond to rough sleeping, and by awarding a grant it allowed both 
organisations extend and enhance the activities they already provided.  
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Notes that the Council has been awarded grant 
funding of £423,849 through the Governments’ 
Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) grant programme 
for three years as follows: 
 
i) £130,582 for 2022/23 

ii) £147,366 for 2023/24 

iii) £145,901 for 2024/25 

 
Table 1 at Paragraph 3.2.4 of the report, 
describes gives a breakdown of the Council’s 
bid for the funding and how the funding is 
proposed to be allocated. 

 
(2) Notes that the Council has been awarded 

through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation 
Programme (RSAP) additional grant of £80,417 
for two financial years as follows: 
 
i) £55,417 for 2022/23 

Page 26



 
 
 

 

 
23 

ii) £25,000 for 2023/24 

 
Paragraph 3.3.5 of the report summarises how 
the Council proposes to allocate the funding. 

 
(3) Notes that this funding will be used to support 

both the continuation of existing activities and 
introduction of additional activities to relieve 
and prevent rough sleeping in the Borough. 

 
(4) Considers and approves the following grants 

from the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) 2022 – 
2025 funding to the charities who are currently 
providing support to Hyndburn Borough Council 
to continue and enhance support for people who 
are rough sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping: 

 
(i) Approves a grant  of £60,000 to Stepping 

Stone Projects for the continuation of the 

Bed Every Night project; 

(ii) Approves a grant of £79,584 to Stepping 

Stone Projects for the continuation of the 

Step Forward Hyndburn project; 

(iii) Approves a grant of £45,000 to Maundy 

Relief for the continuation of the emergency 

night shelter; 

(iv) Approves a grant of £93,000 to Maundy 

Relief for the continuation of the street 

navigator activity. 

 
(5) Considers and approves an additional grant 

from the Rough Sleeping Accommodation 
Programme (RSAP) 2022 – 2024 of £80,417 to 
Stepping Stones Projects to increase the 
existing grant award previously made at Cabinet 
on 22nd June 2022 and described in Paragraph 
3.3.5 of the report. 

 
(6) Delegates authority to the Head of Regeneration 

and Housing, in consultation with the Executive 
Director (Legal and Democratic Services) to 
draw up, finalise and execute agreements to 
grant Maundy Relief and Stepping Stone 
Projects the funds listed above to continue the 
support they are currently providing. 

 
(7) Notes that there is RSI grant of £23,015 which 

will be administered and allocated by the 
Council’s Housing Advice and Homelessness 
Team to secure private rented accommodation 
through deposits and rent upfront (as indicated 

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
24 

under ‘flexible surge accommodation fund’ in 
Table 1 at Paragraph 3.2.4 and described in 
Paragraph 3.2.5 of the report). 

 
(8) Notes that there is RSI grant of £123,250 to 

support rough sleepers and those at risk of 
rough sleeping into training and / or 
employment, and that this tranche of grant will 
be subject to a procurement exercise to employ 
a suitable experienced training/employment 
agency. (as indicated under ‘support into 
employment and training for rough sleepers’ in 
Table 1 at Paragraph 3.2.4 and described in 
Paragraph 3.2.5 of the report) 

 
156 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
157 Property Acquisitions - LUF Interventions 

 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was given by 
Councillor Josh Allen, Chair of the Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to the 
following decision being made by Cabinet on 19th October 2022, in private, on the grounds 
that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred. 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, provided a report outlining progress 
to date with the acquisition of two interventions within the Council’s Levelling Up Funding 
bid submission in respect of the Accrington Acre.  The report also sought approval to 
certain delegations to officers in connection with the necessary acquisitions, as well 
providing information about the circumstances under which a further report to Cabinet might 
be required.  The Leader highlighted the principal purpose of the report. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 28



 
 
 

 

 
25 

The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 26th October, 2022 

 
Present:  
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair),  
Councillors Marlene Haworth and Kath Pratt 
 
Councillor Bernard Dawson (Observer) 
 

Apologies None 

  

 
169 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

There were no apologies for absence, substitutions, declarations of interest and 
dispensations.  
 

170 Minutes of the last Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) meeting held on the 15th 

September 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

171 Street Naming Proposal - Britannia Street, Great Harwood 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following streets for a new-build residential development 
located off Britannia Street, Great Harwood with 53 dwellings.  
 
The street names proposed were: 

- Chimney Avenue  
- Saw Mill Close  

 
The suggested street names are related to the view of the existing mill chimney and 
the former site of the mill site named Saw Mill and the developer is keen to maintain 
the history of the site.  
 
The Committee Members had a discussion on the street names suggested and they 
agreed on Saw Mill Close only. Further discussions to take place regarding another 
street name as Chimney Avenue wasn’t accepted. 
 
Resolved – That the Street name Saw Mill Close agreed. 
 

- That the Committee agreed The Chair of Planning and 
Transportation receive delegated powers to name the second 
street in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and its 
Members. The Street name Reed Avenue was subsequently 
approved in consultation with the Chair and members of the 
Committee. 

Public Document Pack

Page 31

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

172 Street Naming Proposal - Clayton Triangle, Whalley Road/Mill Entrance, Clayton le 
Moors 
 

 The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following streets for a new-build residential development 
located off Whalley Road/Mill Entrance, Clayton le Moors with 127 properties.   
 
The Street names proposed were: 

- Barge View 
- Navigation Avenue 
- Old Mill Way 
- Spindle Mews 
- Cotton Field Close  

 
And 2 apartment building names proposed were: 

- Canal Point 
- Cotton Quay  

 
The suggested names above reflect the history of the development site of the 
former Canal Mills/Soap Works and is also adjacent to the Leeds and Liverpool 
Canal. 
 
The Committee Members had a discussion on the Street names and felt the 
connection was very relevant. They agreed on Navigation Avenue, Old Mill Way, 
Spindle Mews, Cotton Field Close and Canal Point and Cotton Quay. Further 
discussions to take place as Barge View wasn’t accepted.  
 
Resolved – That the Street names Navigation Avenue, Old Mill Way, Spindle 

Mews, Cotton Field Close were agreed. 
 

- That the 2 Apartment buildings Canal Point View and Cotton 
Quay were agreed.  

 
- That the Committee agreed The Chair of Planning and 

Transportation receive delegated powers to name the remaining 
street in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and its 
Members. The Street name Widebeam View was subsequently 
approved in consultation with the Chair and members of the 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 32



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 7 December 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Identification of an external Project Director – LUF  

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval to waive the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules to identify and 

appoint a suitably experienced consultant, who will act as the Council’s Project Director 
for the Council’s Levelling Up Fund and UKSPF Interventions.  
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet agree to waive the Contracts Procedure Rules and grants delegated authority 

to the Executive Director (Environment), to select up to 2 members from the Stakeholder 
Board plus the Councils external consultant Bradshaw Advisory to act as a selection 
panel to identify the external consultant who will act as the Council’s Project Director in 
delivering the Council’s Levelling Up Fund Interventions as set out in paragraph 3.4 to 
3.6 of the report. 

 
2.2 Cabinet grant delegated authority to the Executive Director (Environment), following 

consultation with the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services), to agree the 
terms of the agreement to appoint the preferred Project Director. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 A £20m funding bid into Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund was submitted at the end of 

August 2022, but the Government’s announcement on successful bids has been delayed 
and it is likely to be made by the end of November 2022.  

 
3.2 The Levelling Up fund spending timescales are extremely tight, with funding criteria 

requiring some capital spending to be made within the financial year 2022/23 and all 
spending to be completed by 31 March 2025. Whilst there is a suggestion in the LUF 
guidance that spending may be permitted within the financial year 2025/26, this is only 
in exceptional circumstances and at the sole discression of the funding body, DLUHC. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6.



 

 

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund has similar timescales in that expenditure must be made 
between April2022 and April 2025. It is therefore prudent to continue at risk with some 
elements of work before any announcement, where not doing so would most likely lead 
to unacceptable project delays.  

 
3.3 It is recognised that the Council does not have the specific knowledge or experienced 

staff ‘in house’ to manage contractors and professional consultants on the delivery of 
such high value construction projects. Many other local authorities are in the same 
position. Round 1 funding saw £1.7bn allocated to councils, a large proportion directed 
into the construction industry and potential funding from Round 2 of a further £1.2bn will 
lead to people with key project management skills becoming even more sought after.  

 
3.4 To ensure the Council has the opportunity to secure someone with the necessary skill 

set to take on this role, three external Project Directors have been identified as having 
the required skills, knowledge and experience, (two are individual consultants and the 
third is employed within a large consultancy organisation). All have a track record of 
delivering successful large scale, (£20m+) construction related projects and understand 
the importance of delivering externally funded projects on time and to budget.  

 
3.5 The selection panel will consider each Consultant’s skills and experience and which 

proposal is the most advantageous / provides any added value to the Council. In 
addition, the Council will be comparing the three consultants on quality and cost, all of 
which should ensure value for money and provide a necessary element of competition.  

 
3.6 Waiving the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, means the Council can undertake the 

interview/selection process to identify a preferred project director before other authorities 
in the NW commence their search for project management support. Following the 
announcement of Hyndburn’s LUF submission being successful, the project director can 
commence work shortly afterwards, which avoids the longer timescales involved in 
waiting until the announcement is made before undertaking a far longer, formal tender 
exercise. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 One option is to wait until the outcome of the Council’s submission and then undertake 

an open tender exercise but it is recommended that this is rejected. This is because it is 
important that the search is undertaken quickly as the timescale for delivering all LUF 
interventions is extremely tight and there will be an ever greater call on suitably 
experienced consultants. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

The cost associated with the Council 
appointing a Project Director is similar to 
other professional costs associated with 

Page 36



 

 

 delivering construction projects, i.e. 
Architects, Engineers and Quantity 
Surveyors. An allowance for all of these fees 
has been included within the LUF bid, having 
been estimated by the externally appointed 
construction cost consultants, MAC. 
 
Whilst the cost of engaging the Project 
Director to manage the works will be met from 
the LUF bid, it may be beneficial to engage 
the consultant prior to any announcement of 
the Council’s bid as they can contribute to 
discussions with framework providers and 
the Council’s preferred partner / operator. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The approval to waive the Council’s 
Contracts Procedure Rules is required in 
order to fulfil our legal obligations in relation 
to procurement procedures.  
 
When applying the indicative daily contract 
rate for a project director, the estimated 
contract value for the appointment, based on 
an average of 1.5 days per week over an 18 
month period, is not likely to exceed the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 limit for 
services contract of this type and the relevant 
procurement rules are therefore not expected 
to apply in this instance.  
 
Once an announcement that the Council’s 
funding bid has been successful, a suitable 
deed of appointment will be entered into with 
the preferred project director. 
 
There are no human rights implications for 
this report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Commencing the search for a suitable project 
director prior to the announcement of Round 
2 submissions, allows for a wider choice of 
suitably experienced consultants, who will 
provide the Council with advice on framework 
providers, potential contractors / consultants 
and reduce the potential for delays to an 
already extremely short delivery funding 
timescale. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 

N/A for this report 

Page 37

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
  

Page 38



Page 1 of 4 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 07 December 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Marlene Haworth - Deputy Leader of the Council 

REPORT AUTHOR: David Turner – Principal Engineer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Accrington Town Centre Parking 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To provide Members with information relating to current arrangements for the 

Shoppers Car Park located at Abbey Street & Abbey Grange (Cross Street) in 
Accrington Town Centre so members can make a decision on whether to maintain or 
revoke the current three hour parking Traffic Regulation Order. 

 
1.2   To provide members with information relating to the current situation of delivery 

vehicles entering the Broadway Shopping Pedestrian Zone (between Union Street & 
Cornhill) so members can make a decision on whether to revoke the current Traffic 
Regulation Orders and employ a private parking enforcement company to regulate 
vehicle deliveries on Broadway. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the current three hour parking limit Traffic Regulation Order on the Abbey Street 

and Abbey Grange (Cross Street) Car Parks be removed opening the car parks to 
unrestricted all day parking in line with all Council owned off street car parks. 

 
2.2 That the current Traffic Regulation Orders effecting Broadway at the Union Street 

entrance and the gateway near Cornhill be removed and for a private parking 
enforcement company to be employed to regulate vehicle deliveries. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7.



Page 2 of 4 
 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Abbey Street and Abbey Grange (Cross Street) Car Parks 
 
3.1.1 Following the closure of the closure of the Blackburn Road car park for the new bus 

station, the Council now administers only two Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s) on car 
parks located on Abbey Street and Abbey Grange (Cross Street), Accrington. The 
TRO’s limit parking to a maximum of 3 hours. The Council employs parking 
enforcement officers from Ribble Valley Borough Council to carry out parking 
enforcement on the two car parks on one day per month.  

 
3.1.2 Any fines issued are then processed by an external company, Chipside. The whole 

process is overseen by the Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London (PATROL) 
joint committee. All the above charge for their services and the Council does not profit 
from the outcome of enforcement. 
 

3.1.3 Due to the light touch procedure of enforcement on the two car parks, with a one day 
visit per month, this has shown to be confusing and frustrating to parking users. Also, 
the administration of the parking restrictions, including enforcement, back office and 
appeals has to be dealt with which is quite onerous and time consuming especially with 
the current strain on Council resources. 
 

3.1.4 It is for the reasons above it is recommend the TRO’s on the two car parks are revoked 
and the car parks be opened up to unrestricted all day parking, in line with all other 
Council owned car parks in the borough.  
 

3.1.5 If approved, the Council would need to make a request to Lancashire County Council 
for the removal of the TRO’s to be added to annual review of Traffic Regulation Orders 
for Lancashire. Once the request has been approved and implemented, the contract 
agreements with Ribble Valley Borough Council, Chipside and Patrol would also be 
terminated without any costs incurred. 
 

3.1.6 The time from commencement to completion of the above would be approximately 12 
months. 

 
3.2 Broadway Traffic Regulation Orders 
 
3.2.1 Located at the Union Street entrance to Broadway there is Traffic Regulation Order 
with  
 signage stating “Pedestrian Zone Except Emergency Vehicles”, the meaning of which 
is  

that no vehicles are allowed to pass the signs and enter the Broadway Pedestrian 
Zone at any time except for emergency vehicles. 
 

3.2.2 Located at the gateway adjacent to Cornhill on Broadway, there is a TRO with a sign 
stating “Pedestrian Zone Permit Holders Only for Loading and Unloading” the meaning 
of which is no vehicles are allowed to pass the sign and enter the Broadway 
Pedestrian Zone except for vehicles holding a permit issued by the Council. 
 

Page 40



Page 3 of 4 
 

3.2.3 Not all shop units on Broadway have access to a rear service yard and therefore they 
do require vehicular access to the frontage for deliveries. 
 

3.2.4 A private company has been employed to carry out parking enforcement on Broadway 
and regulate loading and loading to shops restricting the time when loading and 
unloading can take place, to between the hours of 7am to 8.30am and 5.30pm to 7pm. 
However, this causes a contradiction. In order for vehicles to load and unload on 
Broadway as per the private company signs, vehicles would need to pass the Traffic 
Regulation Order signs located at either end of the Broadway pedestrian zone, illegally 
contravening the Order. The Council asked the private company to stop enforcement 
until the situation is resolved. 
 

3.2.5 It is recommended that the Traffic Regulation Orders are revoked and the signs be 
removed. This would be brought about by making a request to Lancashire County 
Council for the removal of the TRO’s to be added to annual review of Traffic Regulation 
Orders for Lancashire. Once the request has been approved and implemented, the 
agreement with the private enforcement company would then be reinstated to carry out 
parking enforcement and regulate loading and unloading on Broadway. The agreement 
with the private enforcement company is that it is at no cost to the Council as the 
company retains the income from any fines issued. 
 

3.2.6 The time from commencement to completion of the above would be approximately 12 
months. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Car Park TRO’s 
 Option considered – Do nothing 
 Reason for rejection – Confusion & frustration to users leading to complaints 
 
4.2 Broadway TRO’s 
 Option considered – Do nothing 

Reason for rejection - Retailers on Broadway will continue to drive delivery vehicles on 
to Broadway unregulated. The TRO’s on Broadway are not being enforced by the 
Police. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Lancashire County Council Highways 
 Marleen Howarth – Portfolio Holder for the Town Centre  
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including Car Parks -  £200 for removal of signs 

Page 41



Page 4 of 4 
 

any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Car Parks Revenue Budget. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable 

 
 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2309&Ver
=4 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 42

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2309&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2309&Ver=4


Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 07 December 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Steven Smithson - Environmental Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Craig Haraben (Deputy Head of Environmental 
Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of progress in relation to the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) 

funding bid relating to Memorial Park in Great Harwood. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet continues to support the refurbishment and improvement of Memorial Park as 

outlined in the report (“the Project”) and welcomes receipt of the National Lottery 
Heritage Funding. 

 
2.2 Cabinet agrees to the Council being accountable body in respect of the Project and in 

accordance with the HLF’s terms and conditions in connection with the Project 
 
2.3 Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director (Environment) to take all 

reasonable steps to implement and complete the Project, including entering into the 
necessary agreement with the NLHF, engaging consultants and contractors as 
required to deliver the Project and obtaining all necessary permissions and consents. 

 
2.4 Cabinet recommends that the Council supports the Project and allocates £50,000 from 

the Council’s 2023/24 capital programme as match funding, subject to approval of the 
Council’s budget for 2023/24. 

 
2.5  Cabinet agrees to waive the Contracts Procedure Rules and grants delegated authority 

to the Executive Director (Environment), following consultation with the Executive 
Director (Legal & Democratic Services), to agree the terms of the agreement to appoint 
Proffitts CIC as set out in paragraph 3.10 of the report. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8.



Page 2 of 5 
 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 In 2008 the Parks & Cemetery Service started working with the Friends of (FO) 

Memorial Park to explore the possibility of applying for funding administered via the 
NLHF to refurbish Memorial Park in Great Harwood. An initial bid was submitted to the 
then Heritage Lottery Fund but this was unsuccessful. 

 
3.2 In 2021 the outcome of a consultation with the local community showed that residents 

would like to see the refurbishment of park facilities, better use of the Biological 
Heritage Site (BHS) in the park, better access into the BHS, refurbishment of the war 
memorial and gardens, interpretation, sustainable horticultural improvements and 
footpath improvements. 

 
3.3 In addition to the refurbishment work there was a desire to have more activities in the 

park post capital works to encourage participation and develop the audience of people 
who use the park.  

 
3.4 Before submitting the NLHF bid enquiries were made with the NLHF and their 

preferred way forward was for the Council to work with a partner organisation who had 
the appropriate skills and abilities to enable a first class project to be delivered. 

 
3.5 Proffitts CIC are a community interest company who have expertise in green space 

improvement projects and audience development.   
 
3.6 Cabinet agreed on 21 March 2018 for the Council to work with Proffitts CIC to secure 

NLHF funding for Memorial Park in Great Harwood and noted the proposal to appoint 
Proffitts as project manager should the funding bid be successful. 

 
3.7 The Council has received news that the NLHF funding bid relating to Memorial Park in 

Great Harwood had been successful. The project had been allocated £248,650 for the 
delivery stage of the project by the HLF. The total value of the project including funding 
from landfill tax and the Council plus gift in kind work is £338,650. 

 
3.8 The funding secured for this project will allow for 
 

(i) Replacement of damaged boundary railings 
(ii) Repairs to the war memorial and memorial grounds 
(iii) Repairing stone tree pits 
(iv) Tree management work 
(v) Upgrading paths and installing boardwalks in the woodland 
(vi) Installing bins/seating 
(vii) Installation of bird box camera 
(viii) A programme of activities and engagement with the local community 

 
 
3.9 As Memorial Park in Great Harwood will be the beneficiary of the grant funding from 

NLHF, it has been agreed with NLHF that the Council will act as accountable body for 
the project because the Council as landowner and grant recipient will need to abide by 
their terms and conditions. 

Page 44



Page 3 of 5 
 

 
3.10 Proffitts CIC were applicant on behalf of the Council in relation to the successful NLHF 

funding bid and have detailed knowledge of the project. To ensure consistency in the 
delivery phase it is proposed the Council waives its contract procedure rules to 
continue to work in partnership with Proffitts CIC to implement and complete the 
Project. It has been agreed with NLHF that Proffitts CIC will act as project manager for 
the delivery phase of the project. The costs relating to Proffitts CIC undertaking this 
work have been set and agreed with the NLHF and fall within the overall project budget  

 
3.11 The delivery stage work will commence on site once all permissions have been 

finalised and secured. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Do not continue with the delivery stage of National Lottery Heritage Fund funding 

award and try and undertake improvements to Memorial Park via a piece meal 
approach. This is not recommended as grant funding has now been secured and this 
work can be undertaken as one project. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Portfolio holder, FO Memorial Park, local residents, local councillors, Lancashire 

County Council, Lancashire Wildlife Trust, St Bartholemew CP, Whiteash School, 
Proffitts CIC and staff from the Parks service have been consulted in relation to this 
project.  

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

On-going maintenance will be contained 
within existing parks service budgets.  
 
At cabinet on 21 March 2018 cabinet agreed 
in principle to allocate £50,000 to this project 
as match funding. There is a need for this 
match funding to be included in the Council’s 
2023/24 capital programme.  
 
Should the match funding not be included in 
the Council’s 2023/24 capital programme 
then there will be a shortfall in the project 
budget and the scheme will no longer be 
viable. At that point the Council would need to 
inform the NLHF and return the grant funding. 
As such no expenditure will be made in 
relation to the project until the 2023/24 capital 
programme has been agreed by Council. 
 

Legal and human rights The Council will need to enter into an 

Page 45



Page 4 of 5 
 

implications 
 

agreement with NLHF on their standard terms 
and conditions. This will require the park to 
be used for the purposes of the project for a 
specified period of time, which in this case is 
20 years. During that period of time the 
Council is bound by those terms and 
conditions which include: 
 
The Council not selling or leasing the park, or 
part with possession or grant rights over the 
park without NLHF consent 
 
The Council may have to repay the grant in 
certain circumstances, such as if the Council 
acts negligently, breach the grant conditions 
or fail to make good progress with the works.  
 
Should cabinet agree to recommendation set 
out in this report the Council will enter into the 
agreement with NLHF to confirm its intention 
to take this project forward. However, as 
above, no expenditure will take place until the 
Council’s budget has been set for 2023/24. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

The Council will use its contract procedure 
rules to engage landscape contractors to 
undertake the refurbishment work. This 
should ensure value for money work. 
 
All design work has been undertaken by 
suitably qualified designers and projects 
managers. As such all work should meet 
required standards. The Council will need to 
claim back any monies spent to undertake 
any refurbishment work from the NLHF in 
arrears.  
 
Currently, due to inflation, prices for contract 
work can be higher than expected. There is 
an element of contingency built into the 
project budget however the budget total is 
finite.  Therefore should costs come in 
significantly over budget officers will discuss 
this will the NLHF and if necessary look to 
reduce costs to ensure compliance with the 
project budget.  
 

Equality and diversity implications A customer first analysis is attached 

Page 46



Page 5 of 5 
 

A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet report dated 21 March 2018 entitled Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid  
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 3 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 49



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 3 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 

 To refurbish Memorial Park in Great Harwood 

 Who defines and manages it? 

 Hyndburn BC manages the site in consultation with the local community 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 

 All communities in Great Harwood 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 

 Should he NLHF funding be withdrawn 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 

 A consultation has taken place to allow the local community to influence what work is to be 
undertaken in the park. The Council also has links to FO Memorial Park. 

 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 

 The park will have been refurbished and there will be an increase in visitors and users of the 
park 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 

 The FO Memorial Park feed back to the Council about park issues. The FO Memorial Park are 
part of the steering group for the NLHF project. 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 

 Consultation has taken place with the community, schools and Cllrs. 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? N/A 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)?   

 No not at this time 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 

 Yes as above 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 

 All communities in Great Harwood who access the park should benefit equally 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 There is no evidence of this 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 

 There is no evidence of this 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? Not that the Council is aware of 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? Anyone can contact the 
Council to discuss concerns about this project 

Page 50



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

3 of 3 

 Do you need to consult further? Not at this time.  

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? The refurbished park 
should provide a better overall visitor experience. Better access into the biological heritage site 
should provide local schools access into the BHS for study.  

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 

 Cabinet 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? There is a timescale 
for the work agreed with the NLHF. 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

Name: Craig Haraben    Signed:  
 
Service Area: Environmental Services  Dated: 7 December 2022 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 07 December 2022 

REPORT OF: Cllr Susan Hayes, Vice-Chair of the Special 
Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Matters arising from Overview and Scrutiny – Town 
Centre Events 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the outcome of a recent Scrutiny review of town centre events. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet considers providing additional resources to the Events Team to increase their 

capacity and ability to support events further. 
 
2.2 Cabinet requests that the Portfolio Holder work with the Events Team to come up with 

ways to improve data collection and the evaluation of events funded by the Council 
 
2.3 Cabinet requests that the Portfolio Holder make contact with local colleges/education 

providers to support the above recommendation 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At its meeting on 27th September 2027, the Special Scrutiny Committee carried out an 

in meeting review of Town Centre Events. 
 
3.2 The Portfolio Holder, Cllr Marlene Haworth and Victoria Tindall, Business and 

Marketing Co-ordinator provided a report to the Committee.  
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9.



Page 2 of 3 
 

3.3 The report, available here 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s16442/Special%20Scrutiny%20Co
mmittee%20Report%20Event%20Expenditure.pdf provided detailed information about 
the application process for events and for council funding. A breakdown of events 
funded by the Council was provided for the last few years including some brief 
evaluation information. 

 
3.4 The Council has established a budget which provides funding for external 

organisations to organise events via an application process. In order to be considered 
for funding, event applications are assessed against four primary objectives: 

 
 - Increase visitors to the town centre (increase footfall) 

-         Engage with people who live in and around Hyndburn 
-         Create an event which can engage with the widest possible audience 
-         Demonstrate value for money and maximise the event outcomes 
 
3.5 The Portfolio Holder reported on capacity issues. Some Councils have Town Teams 

which support the organisation of events, with others having a larger team of officers. 
The Council’s current team is Victoria plus an Events Coordinator, who supported over 
100 event applications right through the ESAG process, which is resource intensive. 
The Committee agreed and suggested that Cabinet should review the current 
resources available to the team with a view to providing additional resources to 
increase their ability to support events further.  

 
3.6 The Committee discussed the potential levelling up investment, and the potential that 

large scale events could have in attracting people back into the town centre. The 
Committee viewed that ensuring a well-resourced events programme was vital to this. 

 
3.7 Committee members highlighted a need to better evaluate events funded by the 

Council. More robust evaluations would give the Council a clearer picture of which 
events work and which do not. It was suggested that local education providers may 
have resource to support event evaluation, and the Portfolio Holder/Officer could make 
enquiries. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Cabinet may choose to accept or reject any of the recommendations made by 

Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Not applicable 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Page 54

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s16442/Special%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Report%20Event%20Expenditure.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s16442/Special%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Report%20Event%20Expenditure.pdf


Page 3 of 3 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Additional financial commitment will be 
required if the recommendation is accepted. 
For the scope of the in meeting scrutiny 
review, the Scrutiny committee did not have 
sufficient information available to recommend 
how much additional resource is required or 
where the additional budget should come 
from.  

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

No equality issues identified. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Special Scrutiny Committee on 27th September 

2022 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=323&MId=2740&Ver
=4  

 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 55

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=323&MId=2740&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=323&MId=2740&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 7th December 2022 

REPORT OF: Cllr Lorraine Cox, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision – 
Subsidised Pest Control Treatments 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the outcome Call-In of the following Cabinet Decision, made by 

Cabinet on 21st September 2022 and considered by the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19th October 2022: 

 
“That Cabinet agree to reduce the subsidy to pest control treatments for rodents 
relating to domestic properties through a £30 appointment fee.” 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet considers the following resolution of the Communities and 

Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee relating to the above decision: 
 
 “The Committee releases the Cabinet decision in part for implementation, and 

refer the outstanding part of the decision back to the decision making body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns” 

 
2.2 In reference to the above, and following the procedure for call-in of cabinet 

decisions, the Committee release the implementation of a £30 appointment fee, 
but recommends: 

 
 That Cabinet sets up a suitable mechanism to refer those residents who cannot 

afford the £30 fee into the Household Support Fund, who can provide funding for 
those eligible to meet the costs; and 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10.



 

 

That Cabinet reviews the impact of the decision in 12 months-time and reports 
back to the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At its meeting on 21st September 20222, Cabinet considered the following item 

“Subsidised Pest Control Treatments. The report related specifically to issues with the 
waiting list for pest control treatments for rodents at domestic properties, currently at 5 
weeks. Cabinet made the following decision: 

 
 “That Cabinet agree to reduce the subsidy to pest control treatments for rodents 

relating to domestic properties through a £30 appointment fee.” 
 
3.2 In accordance with the Call-In procedure for Cabinet decisions, the procedure was 

activated on 7th October 2022 by two members of the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Call-In was sponsored by Councillor Scott 
Brerton. Several reasons were given for the Call-In. Full details are provided in the 
Call-In Form, which was included with the agenda for the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19th October along with the minutes of that 
meeting. They can be found here 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver
=4 
 

 
3.3 Councillor Scott Brerton presented the reasons for the Call-In to the Committee. 

Councillor Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services presented the 
reasons for the original decision, and responded to some of the points made on the 
Call-In. 

 
3.4 The Chair invited the Committee to ask questions of the Portfolio Holder, Sponsor of 

the Call-In and Officers in attendance. The following issues were discussed: 
 

 Councillors are aware that current waiting times are a problem, but what other methods 
can be used to reduce the waiting list other than implementing a charge 

 Affordability of the payment, particularly during current economic times 

 Public Health concerns 

 Consultation with the public 

 The rented sector and irresponsible landlords 

 Environmental Health powers to deal with landlords who do not take responsibility for 
rodents in their domestic properties 

 40% of pest control appointments result in no pest control work being carried out, 
mainly due to no access to properties 

 Plans to reduce the waiting time from 5 weeks to between 2 and 5 days if the decision 
is implemented 
 

3.5 Councillors Scott Brerton and Steven Smithson were then given the opportunity to sum 
up before the committee made their decision. 

Page 58

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver=4


 

 

 
3.6 The Committee discussed several options, including delaying the decision, or 

introducing alternative methods to reduce the number of no access appointments, such 
as phone call/text message reminders. 

 
3.7 The Household Support Fund was brought into the discussion. The fund is to provide 

support to vulnerable households in most need of support through the winter, and is 
managed by Hyndburn Leisure. Round 3 of the fund is due to open in November 2022 
until the end of March 2023.  

 
3.8 The Chief Executive of Hyndburn Leisure was at the meeting to report on the fund 

under a later agenda item, and was able to respond to questions from committee 
members on how the fund could be used to support vulnerable residents to access 
funds to cover the cost of pest control appointments. It was confirmed the referrals 
from Pest Control services would be eligible, should the resident meet the eligibility 
criteria of the fund. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council’s Call-In procedure gives Scrutiny Committee’s three options when 

dealing with a Call-In decision: 
 
 To release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation; 
 

To release the Cabinet decision in part for implementation, and refer the 
  outstanding part of the decision back to the decision making body for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns; or 
 

To refer the decision back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns. The decision 
maker shall then reconsider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final 
decision. 

 
4.2 Cabinet may choose to accept or reject the recommendations from the Scrutiny 

Committee. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Sponsor of the Call-In, Portfolio Holder and Head of Service provided information 

for the Committee. 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 

Not applicable to this report. 

Page 59



 

 

for the Council) 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable  

 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 19th October 2022 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver
=4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2704&Ver=4


Page 1 of 4 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 07 December 2022 

REPORT OF: Cllr Patrick McGinley, Chair of the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision – 
Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant 
Appointment 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the outcome of the Call-In of the following Cabinet Decision, 

made by Cabinet on 21st September 2022 and considered by the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 20th October 2022: 

 
“Agrees to appoint Hyndburn Leisure to provide 
consultancy services and advice to the Council in respect 
of the Leisure Transformation Project and associated 
projects (such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and the 
proposed Arts and Cultural Investment Board) on the 
terms set out in the report;  

  
Agrees to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
in respect of the proposed appointment for the reasons 
set out in the report; and  

  
Delegates authority to the Executive Director (Legal & 
Democratic Services) to prepare and settle the terms of 
the deed of appointment of Hyndburn Leisure in respect of 
the above.” 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11.



Page 2 of 4 
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet notes that, after consideration of the call-in relating to the decision 

outlined in paragraph 1.1, The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation. 

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At its meeting on 21st September 20222, Cabinet considered the following item 

“Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant Appointment. Cabinet made the decision 
outlined in paragraph 1.1 of this report. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the Call-In procedure for Cabinet decisions, the procedure was 

activated on 7th October 2022 by two members of the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. The Call-In was sponsored by Councillor Scott Brerton. Several 
reasons were given for the Call-In. Full details are provided in the Call-In Form, which 
was included with the agenda for the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
20th October along with the minutes of that meeting. They can be found here 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver
=4 

 
3.3 Councillor Scott Brerton presented the reasons for the Call-In to the Committee. 

Councillor Miles Parkinson presented the reasons for the original decision, and 
responded to the points made on the Call-In. 

 
3.4 Committee members submitted questions, with responses provided by Councillors 

Miles Parkinson, Marlene Haworth and the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
3.5 As part of the summing up process, outlined in the Council’s call-in procedure, Cllr 

Scott Brerton recommended: 
 
 “To refer the decision back to Cabinet for reconsideration, based on the reasons 

outlined in the call-in form” 
 
3.6 The recommendation was seconded by Cllr Bernard Dawson. The recommendation 

received only 2 votes, with 7 votes against. 
 
3.7 Therefore the Chair recommended that having considered all the information provided 

to the committee, to release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation. The 
recommendation was seconded by Cllr Paddy Short and received 7 votes in favour. 

 
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council’s Call-In procedure gives Scrutiny Committee’s three options when 

dealing with a Call-In decision: 
 

Page 62

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver=4


Page 3 of 4 
 

 To release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation; 
 

To release the Cabinet decision in part for implementation, and refer the 
  outstanding part of the decision back to the decision making body for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns; or 
 

To refer the decision back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns. The decision 
maker shall then reconsider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final 
decision. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None arising from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Council’s rules for consideration of a call-
in, reflected in the Council’s Constitution (Part 
4C) where observed. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable to this report 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable to this report 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

20th October 2022 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver
=4  

 
7.2 Agenda, reports and minutes of Cabinet on 21st September 2022  

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2748&Ver
=4  

Page 63

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2727&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2748&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2748&Ver=4


Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact 
Member Services for advice. 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes

	6. Identification of an External Project Director – LUF
	7. Accrington Town Centre Parking
	8. Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid
	Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis

	9. Matters arising from Overview and Scrutiny - Town Centre Events
	10. Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Subsidised Pest Control Treatments
	11. Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant Appointment
	13. Hippings Vale Community Centre, Owsaldtwistle
	Appendix 1 - Summary of Bids Received
	Appendix 2 - Customer First Analysis


